UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT NORTHERN DISTRICT OF OHIO EASTERN DIVISION

Giles Debenham, individually, and on behalf of all others similarly situated,

No.

Plaintiffs,

v.

Digital Forensics Corporation, LLC, an Ohio corporation, **Dmitry Belkin**,

Defendants.

COLLECTIVE ACTION COMPLAINT PURSUANT TO THE FAIR LABOR STANDARDS ACT, 29 U.S.C. § 201, ET SEQ.

Plaintiff, Giles Debenham, ("Plaintiff"), individually, and on behalf of all other persons similarly situated, allege as follows:

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

1. This is an action for equitable relief, overtime pay, liquidated damages, attorneys' fees, costs, and interest under the Fair Labor Standards Act ("FLSA"), as amended, 29 U.S.C. § 216(b). Plaintiff brings this action on behalf of himself and all similarly-situated current and former Inside Sales Agents¹ (also referred to as the "Covered Positions") of Defendants.

For the purposes of this Complaint, "Inside Sales Agent" is exclusively a job title used for the purpose of classifying the putative class of similarly situated individuals, is not necessarily the job title of the Plaintiffs and putative class, and has no bearing or relation to any specialization, skill, education, training, or other qualification that might otherwise be associated with such a job title.

- 2. Plaintiff, individually, and on behalf of all others similarly-situated, brings this action against Defendants Digital Forensics Corporation, LLC and Dmitry Belkin ("Defendants")² for their unlawful failure to pay overtime in violation of the FLSA.
- 3. Plaintiff brings a collective action under the FLSA to recover the unpaid overtime wages owed to him individually and on behalf of all other similarly-situated Inside Sales Agents, current and former, of Defendants. Putative members of the Collective Action are referred to as the "Collective Members."
- 4. Plaintiff and the Collective Members are current and former employees of Defendants. Plaintiff brings this action on behalf of himself and all similarly-situated current and former Inside Sales Agents who Defendants misclassified as "exempt" from overtime under the FLSA, and who were therefore not paid one-and-one-half times their regular rates of pay for all time worked in excess of 40 hours in a given workweek.
- 5. The Collective Members are all current and former Inside Sales Agents who were employed by Defendants at any time starting three years before this Complaint was filed, up to the present.
- 6. The FLSA was enacted "to protect all covered workers from substandard wages and oppressive working hours." Under the FLSA, employers must pay all non-exempt employees an overtime wage premium of pay one and one-half times their regular rates of pay for all time they spend working in excess of 40 hours in a given workweek.

All Defendants to this action are collectively referred to as either "DFC" or "Defendants" unless specified otherwise.

JURISDICTION AND VENUE

- 7. Plaintiff realleges and incorporates by reference all allegations in all preceding paragraphs.
- 8. This Court has subject matter jurisdiction pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1331 and 29 U.S.C. § 201, *et seq*. because this action arises under the Constitution and laws of the United States.
- 9. Venue is proper in this district pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1391(b) and (c) because acts giving rise to the claims of Plaintiffs and the Collective Members occurred within the Northern District of Ohio, and Defendants regularly conduct business in and have engaged in the wrongful conduct alleged in the Complaint and, thus, are subject to personal jurisdiction in this judicial district.

PARTIES

- 10. Plaintiff realleges and incorporates by reference all allegations in all preceding paragraphs.
- 11. At all times material to the matters alleged in this Complaint, Plaintiff was an individual residing in Cuyahoga County, Ohio, and is a former employee of Defendants.
- 12. At all material times, Plaintiff was a full-time employee of Defendants who worked as an Inside Sales Agent from December 2017 through August 2018.
- 13. At all material times, Plaintiff was employed by Defendants and paid as an exempt employee.
- 14. At all relevant times, Defendants employed Inside Sales Agents to perform various non-exempt duties, including, but not limited to, cold-calling and emailing current and potential customers to obtain the customer's agreement to purchase DFC's services.

- 15. At all material times, Plaintiff was an employee of Defendants as defined by the FLSA, 29 U.S.C. § 203(e)(1).
- 16. At all material times, Plaintiff was a non-exempt employee under 29 U.S.C. § 213(a)(1).
- 17. Plaintiff has given his written consent to be a named representative Plaintiff in this action pursuant to 29 U.S.C. § 216(b), a true and accurate copy of which is attached to this Complaint as "Exhibit A."
- 18. Plaintiff brings this action on behalf of himself and on behalf of all other persons similarly situated who are current or former Inside Sales Agents of Defendants, including but not limited to current or former Inside Sales Agents of Defendants who agree in writing to join this action seeking recovery under the FLSA.
- 19. Plaintiff brings this action on behalf of himself and on behalf of all other similarly situated current and former employees of Defendants—specifically, current or former Inside Sales Agents of Defendants who Defendants misclassified as "exempt" from overtime under the FLSA and, therefore, did not receive an overtime premium for time spent working in excess of 40 hours in a given workweek.
- 20. Defendant Digital Forensics Corporation LLC is an Ohio corporation, authorized to do business in the State of Ohio and was at all relevant times Plaintiff's and the Collective Members' Employer as defined by 29 U.S.C. § 203(d).
- 21. Under the FLSA, Defendant Digital Forensics Corporation LLC is an employer. The FLSA defines "employer" as any individual who acts directly or indirectly in the interest of an employer in relation to an employee. At all relevant times, Defendant Digital Forensics Corporation LLC had the authority to hire and fire employees, supervised and controlled work

schedules or the conditions of employment, determined the rate and method of payment, and maintained employment records in connection with Plaintiff's and the Collective Members' employment with Digital Forensics Corporation LLC. Having acted in the interest of Digital Forensics Corporation LLC in relation to their employees, including Plaintiff, Digital Forensics Corporation LLC is subject to liability under the FLSA.

- 22. Under the FLSA, Defendant Dmitry Belkin is an employer. The FLSA defines "employer" as any individual who acts directly or indirectly in the interest of an employer in relation to an employee. At all relevant times, Defendant Dmitry Belkin is the owner of Digital Forensics Corporation LLC. At all relevant times, he had the authority to hire and fire employees, supervised and controlled work schedules or the conditions of employment, determined the rate and method of payment, and maintained employment records in connection with Plaintiff's and the Collective Members' employment with Digital Forensics Corporation LLC. As a person who acted in the interest of Digital Forensics Corporation LLC in relation to Digital Forensics Corporation LLC's employees, including Plaintiff, Defendant Dmitry Belkin is subject to individual liability under the FLSA.
 - 23. Defendants are sued in both their individual and corporate capacities.
- 24. Defendants are jointly and severally liable for the injuries and damages sustained by Plaintiff and the Collective Members.
- 25. At all relevant times, Plaintiff and the Collective Members were "employees" of Defendants as defined by the FLSA, 29 U.S.C. § 201, et seq.
- 26. The provisions set forth in the FLSA, 29 U.S.C. § 201, et seq., apply to Defendants.

- 27. At all relevant times, Defendants were and continue to be "employers" as defined by FLSA, 29 U.S.C. § 201, et seq.
- 28. Defendants individually and/or through an enterprise or agent, directed and exercised control over Plaintiff's and the Collective Members' work and wages at all relevant times.
- 29. At all relevant times, Plaintiff and the Collective Members in their work for Defendants, were engaged in commerce or the production of goods for commerce.
- 30. At all relevant times, Plaintiff and the Collective Members, in their work for Defendants, were employed by an enterprise engaged in commerce that had annual gross sales of at least \$500,000.

FACTUAL ALLEGATIONS

- 31. Plaintiff realleges and incorporates by reference all allegations in all preceding paragraphs.
- 32. Defendants own and/or operate as Digital Forensics Corporation LLC, an enterprise located in Cuyahoga County, Ohio.
- 33. Digital Forensics Corporation LLC is a company headquartered in Cleveland, Ohio, that performs digital investigations and data recovery. The services DFC offers include investigating data breaches, intellectual property theft, cyber harassment, and other personal investigations.
 - 34. DFC's customers are generally other businesses who need their services.
- 35. DFC's profits derive from and depend on its Inside Sales Agents' ability to sell DFC's services to its customers.

- 36. At all relevant times in their work for Defendants in the Covered Positions,
 Plaintiff and the Collective Members performed and continue to perform straightforward inside sales tasks.
- 37. At all relevant times in their work for Defendants, Inside Sales Agents had and have the primary job duty of cold-calling current and potential customers and selling DFC's services to them. They call and email current and potential customers to obtain the customer's agreement to use DFC's services.
- 38. At all relevant times in their work for Defendants, the Covered Positions are and have been classified as FLSA-exempt and paid a base salary plus commissions based entirely on sales performance.
- 39. In December 2017, Plaintiff began employment with Defendants as an Inside Sales Agent, performing primarily non-exempt tasks, such as cold-calling current and potential customers and securing contracts from the customers to use DFC's services.
- 40. Rather than paying their Inside Sales Agents–including Plaintiff and the Collective Members–an overtime premium for time spent working in excess of 40 hours in a given workweek, Defendants misclassified them as "exempt" in order to avoid their overtime responsibilities under the FLSA.
- 41. Throughout Plaintiff's employment with Defendants, Defendants paid Plaintiff on a \$40,000 annual salary "draw" structure, which means that Defendants paid Plaintiff a guaranteed minimum base annual salary of \$40,000, or commissions based on his weekly sales performance, whichever was greater. Defendants paid Plaintiff in this manner regardless of how many hours he worked in a given workweek.

- 42. Pursuant to DFC's policy and practice, for approximately the first 90 days of Plaintiff's employment with Defendants, Defendants classified Plaintiff as an independent contractor rather than an employee. After 90 days, Defendants then reclassified Plaintiff as an employee. Despite the reclassification, Plaintiff's job title, duties, and compensation structure remained the same.
- 43. In a given workweek, and during each and every workweek, of Plaintiff's employment with Defendants, he was scheduled, and expected, to work in excess of forty (40) hours per week.
- 44. In a given workweek, and during each and every workweek, of Plaintiff's employment with Defendants, he worked between five (5) and twenty-five (25) hours of overtime (i.e., hours in excess of 40 in a given workweek) without being compensated at one-and-one-half times his regular rate of pay for such time worked.
- 45. In their work for Defendants, Plaintiff and the Collective Members were nonexempt employees.
- 46. At all relevant times, Defendants have required and require the Covered Positions to be constantly available by phone and email and immediately responsive to customers' and potential customers' needs, as well as in touch with each other to monitor ever-changing customer needs.
- 47. At all relevant times, DFC has required and requires the Covered Positions to work continuously throughout the day, communicating with potential and current customers by phone, text, and email, selling DFC's services.
- 48. DFC also sets challenging sales quotas, enforces them harshly, and fosters an intensely competitive culture.

- 49. These factors cause Plaintiff and the Collective Members to consistently work significant overtime.
- 50. DFC requires the Covered Positions to work in excess of 40 hours per week in the office (separate from any time worked at home).
- 51. Because of the nature of the work and demands placed by DFC, management is aware that Plaintiffs consistently work through lunch (either skipping lunch or eating at their desks while working).
- 52. In addition, Plaintiff and the Collective Members work extensive time outside of normal business hours, during mornings, evenings, and weekends.
- 53. In their work for Defendants, Plaintiff and the Collective Members were not outside sales employees.
- 54. In their work for Defendants, Plaintiffs and the Collective Members were not customarily and regularly engaged away from Defendants' place or places of business in performing their primary duties.
- 55. In their work for Defendants, Plaintiff and the Collective Members were not commissioned sales employees half of whose total earnings consisted of commissions.
- 56. At no point during any workweek during which Plaintiff and Collective Members worked for Defendants did more than half of their total earnings consist of commissions.
- 57. In their work for Defendants, Plaintiffs were not employed by an establishment that qualifies as a bona fide "retail or service establishment."
- 58. In their work for Defendants in the Covered Positions, Plaintiff's and the Collective Members' primary duty was not managing the enterprise that is DFC, or managing a customarily recognized department or subdivision of the enterprise that is DFC.

- 59. In their work for Defendants in the Covered Positions, Plaintiff and the Collective Members did not customarily and regularly direct the work of at least two or more other full-time employees or their equivalent.
- 60. In their work for Defendants in the Covered Positions, Plaintiff and the Collective Members did not have the authority to hire or fire other employees, nor were their suggestions or recommendations as to the hiring, firing, advancement, promotion, or any other change in status of other employees given particular weight.
- 61. In their work for Defendants in the Covered Positions, Plaintiff's and the Collective Members' primary duty was not the performance of office or non-manual work directly related to the management or general business operations of DFC or DFC's customers.
- 62. In their work for Defendants in the Covered Positions, Plaintiff's and the Collective Members' primary duty did not include the exercise of discretion and independent judgment with respect to matters of significance.
- 63. The following further demonstrate that Plaintiff and the Collective Members, in their work for Defendants, were employees under the FLSA:
 - Defendants had the exclusive right to hire and fire Plaintiff and the
 Collective Members;
 - Defendants made the decision not to pay overtime to Plaintiff and the
 Collective Members;
 - c. Defendants supervised Plaintiff and the Collective Members and subjected them to Defendants' rules;
 - d. Plaintiff and the Collective Members had no financial investment with Defendants' business;

- e. Plaintiff and the Collective Members, in their work for Defendants, had no opportunity for profit or loss in the business;
- f. The services rendered by Plaintiff and the Collective Members in their work for Defendants was integral to Defendants' business;
- g. Plaintiff and the Collective Members were hired as permanent employees, working for Defendants for continuous unspecified amounts of time.
- h. Plaintiff and the Collective Members, in their work for Defendants, were entirely economically dependent on Defendants;
- i. Plaintiff and the Collective Members, in their work for Defendants, were not in business for themselves;
- j. Plaintiff and the Collective Members had no right to refuse work assigned to them by Defendants.
- 64. From the beginning of Plaintiff's and the Collective Members' employment through the present day, Defendants failed to properly compensate Plaintiff and the Collective Members for any of their overtime hours. During each and every workweek during which Plaintiff and the Collective Members worked for Defendants, they worked approximately forty-five (45) to sixty (65) hours per week, including routinely working through lunch periods, routinely working from home after regular business hours, and routinely working from home on weekends for which time Defendants failed to accurately record Plaintiff's and the Collective Members' time worked while suffering or permitting them to work nonetheless.
- 65. Defendants refused and/or failed to properly disclose to or apprise Plaintiff and the Collective Members of their rights under the FLSA.

- 66. Defendants engaged in the regular practice of willfully failing to pay Plaintiff and the Collective Members one-and-one-half times their regular rates of pay for all time that they suffered or permitted Plaintiff and Collective Members to work in excess of forty (40) hours per workweek.
- 67. As a result of Defendants' willful failure to pay Plaintiff and Collective Members one-and-one-half times their regular rates of pay for all work in excess of forty (40) hours per workweek, Defendants paid Plaintiff less than the applicable overtime wage rate for such work that Plaintiff and the Collective Members performed in excess of forty (40) hours per workweek.
- 68. Defendants engaged in the regular practice of failing to accurately, if at all, record the time during which Defendants suffered or permitted Plaintiff and the Collective Members to work. As such, Plaintiff's and the Collective Members' time records understate the duration of time each workweek that Defendants suffered or permitted Plaintiff and the Collective Members to work.
- 69. As a result of Defendants' willful failure to compensate Plaintiff and the Collective Members the applicable overtime wage rate for such hours worked, Defendants have violated 29 U.S.C. § 207(a).
- 70. Defendants knew that or acted with reckless disregard as to whether their failure to pay to Plaintiff and the Collective Members one-and-one-half times their regular rates of pay for all work in excess of forty (40) hours per workweek, would violate federal and state law, and Defendants were aware of the FLSA overtime wage requirements during Plaintiff's and the Collective Members' employment. As such, Defendants' conduct constitutes a willful violation of the FLSA.

- 71. Defendants have and continue to willfully violate the FLSA by not paying Plaintiff and the Collective Members one-and-one-half times their regular rates of pay for all time worked in excess of forty (40) hours per workweek.
- 72. In a given workweek, and during each and every workweek of Plaintiff's and the Collective Members' employment with Defendants, Plaintiff and the Collective Members worked for Defendants for more than 40 hours and were not paid the applicable overtime wage premium of one and one-half times their regular rates of pay under the FLSA 29, U.S.C. § 207(a).
- 73. Plaintiff and the Collective Members are covered employees within the meaning of the Fair Labor Standards Act ("FLSA").
- 74. Defendants wrongfully withheld wages from Plaintiff and the Collective Members by failing to pay all wages due for hours Plaintiff and the Collective Members.
- 75. Due to Defendants' illegal wage practices, Plaintiff and the Collective Members are entitled to recover from Defendants compensation for unpaid minimum wages, an additional amount equal amount as liquidated damages, interest, and reasonable attorney's fees and costs of this action under 29 U.S.C. § 216(b).

COLLECTIVE ACTION ALLEGATIONS

- 76. Plaintiff realleges and incorporates by reference all allegations in all preceding paragraphs.
- 77. Plaintiff brings this action pursuant to 29 U.S.C. § 216(b) on his own behalf and as a representative of individuals similarly situated who are current or former Inside Sales Agents of Defendants.

- 78. Plaintiff brings this action pursuant to 29 U.S.C. § 216(b) on his own behalf and as representatives of individuals similarly situated who are current and former Inside Sales Agents of Defendants, who are not or were not paid one-and-one-half times their regular rates of pay for all time in excess of forty (40) hours per workweek that Defendants suffered or permitted them to work, in violation of pursuant to 29 U.S.C. § 207(a), who agree in writing to join this lawsuit seeking recovery under the FLSA.
- 79. At all relevant times, Plaintiff and the Collective Members are and have been similarly situated, have had substantially similar job requirements and pay provisions, and are and have been subject to Defendants' decision, policy, plan, and common programs, practices, procedures, protocols, routines, and rules of willfully failing and refusing to pay and one-and-one-half times Plaintiff's and the Collective Members' regular rates of pay for all time in excess of forty (40) hours per workweek that Defendants suffered or permitted them to work. Plaintiff's claims stated herein are essentially the same as those of the Collective Members. This action is properly maintained as a collective action because in all pertinent aspects the employment relationship of individuals similarly situated to Plaintiffs are identical.
- 80. Plaintiff and the Collective Members worked more than forty (40) hours in a given workweek without being compensated for the hours worked in excess of forty (40) during that workweek. Further, Plaintiff and the Collective Members worked more than forty (40) hours in a given workweek without being compensated for the overtime hours worked during that workweek.
- 81. Rather than paying their Inside Sales Agents-including Plaintiff and the Collective Members-an overtime premium for time spent working in excess of 40 hours in a

given workweek, Defendants misclassified them as "exempt" in order to avoid their overtime responsibilities under the FLSA.

- 82. Throughout Plaintiff's and the Collective Members' employment with Defendants, Defendants paid Plaintiff and the Collective Members on a base annual salary "draw" structure, which means that Defendants paid Plaintiff and the Collective Members a guaranteed minimum base annual salary, or commissions based on his weekly sales performance, whichever was greater. Defendants paid Plaintiff and the Collective Members in this manner regardless of how many hours they worked in a given workweek.
- 83. Pursuant to DFC's policy and practice, for approximately the first 90 days of Plaintiff's and the Collective Members' employment with Defendants, Defendants classified Plaintiff and the Collective Members as independent contractors rather than as employees. After 90 days, Defendants then reclassified Plaintiff and the Collective Members as employees. Despite the reclassification, Plaintiff's and the Collective Members' job titles, duties, and compensation structures remained the same.
- 84. In a given workweek, and during each and every workweek, of Plaintiff's and the Collective Members' employment with Defendants, they were scheduled, and expected, to work in excess of forty (40) hours per week.
- 85. In a given workweek, and during each and every workweek, of Plaintiff's and the Collective Members' employment with Defendants, they worked between five (5) and twenty-five (25) hours of overtime (i.e., hours in excess of 40 in a given workweek) without being compensated at one-and-one-half times their regular rates of pay for such time worked.

- 86. Although Defendants permitted and/or required the Collective Members to work in excess of forty (40) hours per workweek, Defendants have denied them full compensation for their hours worked over forty (40) in a given workweek.
- 87. The Collective Members perform or have performed the same or similar work as Plaintiff.
 - 88. The Collective Members are not exempt from receiving overtime pay.
- 89. As such, the Collective Members are similar to Plaintiff in terms of job title, job duties, pay structure, and/or the denial of overtime.
- 90. Defendants' failure to pay overtime compensation required by the FLSA results from generally applicable policies or practices, and does not depend on the personal circumstances of the Collective Members.
- 91. The following further demonstrate that Plaintiff and the Collective Members, in their work for Defendants, were employees under the FLSA:
 - Defendants had the exclusive right to hire and fire Plaintiff and the
 Collective Members;
 - Defendants made the decision not to pay overtime to Plaintiff and the
 Collective Members;
 - c. Defendants supervised Plaintiff and the Collective Members and subjected them to Defendants' rules;
 - d. Plaintiff and the Collective Members had no financial investment with
 Defendants' business;
 - e. Plaintiff and the Collective Members, in their work for Defendants, had no opportunity for profit or loss in the business;

- f. The services rendered by Plaintiff and the Collective Members in their work for Defendants was integral to Defendants' business;
- g. Plaintiff and the Collective Members were hired as permanent employees, working for Defendants for continuous unspecified amounts of time.
- h. Plaintiff and the Collective Members, in their work for Defendants, were entirely economically dependent on Defendants;
- i. Plaintiff and the Collective Members, in their work for Defendants, were
 not in business for themselves;
- j. Plaintiff and the Collective Members had no right to refuse work assigned to them by Defendants.
- 92. The experiences of Plaintiff, with respect to their pay, are typical of the experiences of the Collective Members.
- 93. The specific job titles or precise job responsibilities of each Collective Member does not prevent collective treatment.
- 94. All class members, irrespective of their particular job requirements, are entitled to compensation for hours worked in excess of forty (40) during a given workweek.
- 95. Although the exact amount of damages may vary among the Collective Members, the damages for the Collective Members can be easily calculated by a simple mathematic formula. The claims of all Collective Members arise from a common nucleus of facts. Liability is based on a systematic course of wrongful conduct by the Defendants that caused harm to all of the Collective Members.
- 96. As such, Plaintiff brings his FLSA overtime claims as a collective action on behalf of the following class:

The FLSA Collective Members are all of Defendants' current and former Inside Sales Agents who worked for Defendants at any time starting three years before this lawsuit was filed up to the present.

- 97. Defendants' unlawful conduct, as described in this Collective Action Complaint, is pursuant to a corporate policy or practice of minimizing labor costs by manipulating and/or failing to properly record the hours the employees work.
- 98. Defendants are aware or should have been aware that federal law required them to pay employees performing non-exempt duties an overtime premium of not less than one-and-one-half times their regular rates of pay for hours worked in excess of forty (40) per workweek.
 - 99. Defendants' unlawful conduct has been widespread, repeated, and consistent.
- 100. This action is properly brought under and maintained as an opt-in collective action pursuant to 29 U.S.C. § 216(b).
- 101. The Collective Members perform or have performed the same or similar work as Plaintiffs.
- 102. Upon information and belief, the individuals similarly situated to Plaintiff include more than one hundred (100) employees currently and/or formerly employed by Defendants, and Plaintiff is unable to state the precise number of similarly-situated employees because that information is solely in Defendants' possession or control, but it can be readily ascertained from their employment records and the records of its payroll processor.
- 103. Notice can be provided to the Collective Members via first class mail to the last address known to Defendants, via email at the last known email address known to Defendants, and via text message at the last known telephone number known to Defendants.
- 104. Plaintiff's claims stated in this complaint are essentially the same as those of the Collective Members. This action is properly maintained as a collective action because in all

pertinent aspects the employment relationship of individuals similarly situated to Plaintiff is identical or substantially similar.

DAMAGES

- 105. Plaintiff realleges and incorporates by reference all allegations in all preceding paragraphs.
- 106. Plaintiff and the Collective Members are entitled to recover overtime compensation for the hours they worked in excess of 40 hours in a given workweek for which they were not paid at the federally mandated overtime rate—i.e., Plaintiff and the Collective Members are entitled one and one-half times their regular rates of pay for all time spent working in excess of 40 hours per week for Defendants.
- 107. Plaintiff and the Collective Members are also entitled to an amount equal to all of their unpaid wages as liquidated damages. 29 U.S.C. § 216(b).
- 108. Plaintiff and the Collective Members are also entitled to recover their attorney's fees and costs as required by the FLSA. 29 U.S.C. § 216(b).

COUNT ONE: FAIR LABOR STANDARDS ACT <u>UNPAID OVERTIME</u>

- 109. Plaintiff realleges and incorporates by reference all allegations in all preceding paragraphs.
- 110. Defendants misclassified Plaintiff and the Collective Members as "exempt" from overtime under the FLSA.
- 111. Defendants misclassified Plaintiff and the Collective Members as independent contractors for the first 90 days of their employment with Defendants.

- 112. Defendants operated pursuant to their policy and practice of not paying Plaintiff and the Collective Members one and one-half times their regular rates of pay for all time spent working in excess of 40 hours per workweek.
- 113. While employed by Defendants, Plaintiff and the Collective Members worked tens of hours of overtime per week each and every workweek for which they worked for Defendants, and Defendants did not pay to Plaintiff and the Collective Members one-and-one-half times their regular rate of pay for such time.
- 114. As a result, Defendants have intentionally failed and/or refused to pay Plaintiff and the Collective Members overtime according to the provisions of the FLSA.
- 115. Defendants further have engaged in a widespread pattern and practice of violating the provisions of the FLSA by failing and/or refusing to pay Plaintiff and the Collective Members in accordance with 29 U.S.C. § 207.
- 116. Plaintiff and the Collective Members believe and therefore aver that Defendants owe them unpaid overtime wages for each and every pay period for the duration of their employment.
- 117. Additionally, while employed by Defendants, during each and every workweek during which Plaintiff and the Collective Members worked, Defendants suffered or permitted Plaintiff and the Collective Members to work overtime hours during lunch breaks, outside of normal business hours and on weekends, yet Defendant did not pay Plaintiff or the Collective Members any wage whatsoever for such time Plaintiff and the Collective Members worked. As a result, Defendants additionally failed or refused to compensate Plaintiff and the Collective Members one-and-one-half times their regular rates of pay for hours Plaintiff and the Collective Members worked outside of normal business hours and on weekends.

- 118. As a result, Defendants have intentionally failed and/or refused to pay Plaintiff and the Collective Members overtime according to the provisions of the FLSA.
- 119. Defendants further have engaged in a widespread pattern and practice of violating the provisions of the FLSA by failing to pay Plaintiff and the Collective Members in accordance with 29 U.S.C. § 207.
- 120. Although at this stage, Plaintiff and the Collective Members are unable to state the exact amount owed for all time worked during the course of their employment, Plaintiff and the Collective Members believe that such information will become available during the course of discovery. Furthermore, when an employer fails to keep complete and accurate time records, employees may establish the hours worked by their testimony, and the burden of overcoming such testimony shifts to the employer.
- 121. Defendants knew that or acted with reckless disregard as to whether their refusal or failure to properly compensate Plaintiff and the Collective Members over the course of their employment would violate federal and state law, and Defendants were aware of the FLSA minimum wage requirements during Plaintiff's and the Collective Members' employment. As such, Defendants' conduct constitutes a willful violation of the FLSA.
- 122. Defendants have and continue to willfully violate the FLSA by not paying Plaintiff and the Collective Members a wage equal to one and one-half times their regular rates of pay for all time spent performing labor for Defendants in excess of their regular 40-hour workweek.
- 123. As a result of Defendants failure or refusal to pay Plaintiff and the Collective Members a wage equal to one and one half times Plaintiff's and the Collective Members' regular rates of pay for work they performed for Defendants in excess of their regular 40-hour

workweek, Defendants violated 29 U.S.C. § 207(a). Plaintiff and the Collective Members are therefore entitled to compensation of one-and-one-half times their regular rates of pay, to be proven at trial, plus an additional equal amount as liquidated damages, together with interest, reasonable attorney's fees, and costs.

WHEREFORE, Plaintiff, Giles Debenham, individually, and on behalf of all other similarly situated persons, requests that this Court grant the following relief in Plaintiff's and the Collective Members' favor, and against Defendants:

- A. For the Court to declare and find that the Defendants committed one or more of the following acts:
 - i. violated the overtime provisions of the FLSA, 29 U.S.C. § 207, by failing to pay proper minimum wages; and
 - ii. willfully violated minimum wage provisions of the FLSA, 29 U.S.C. §207;
- B. For the Court to award damages in the amounts of all unpaid overtime wages due and owing to Plaintiff and the Collective Members;
- C. For the Court to award compensatory damages, including liquidated damages pursuant to 29 U.S.C. § 216(b), in amounts to be determined at trial;
- D. For the Court to award prejudgment and post-judgment interest on any damages awarded;
- E. For the Court to award Plaintiff's and the Collective Members' reasonable attorneys' fees and costs of the action pursuant to 29 U.S.C. § 216(b) and all other causes of action set forth in this Complaint;

- F. For the Court to provide a reasonable incentive award for Plaintiff to compensate him for the time he spent attempting to recover wages for the Collective Members and for the risks he took in doing so; and
- G. Such other relief as this Court deems just and proper.

REQUEST FOR COLLECTIVE ACTION CERTIFICATION

Plaintiff requests that the Court designate this action as a collective action on behalf of the FLSA Collective Members and promptly issue a notice pursuant to 29 U.S.C. § 216(b) to all similarly situated members of the FLSA opt-in class, apprising them of the pendency of this action, and permitting them to timely assert FLSA claims in this action by filing individual Consent to Sue Forms pursuant to 29 U.S.C. § 216(b).

RESPECTFULLY SUBMITTED this 3rd day of October, 2018.

THE BENDAU LAW FIRM, PLLC

By: /s/ Clifford P. Bendau, II

Clifford P. Bendau, II (OH No. 0089601)

Christopher J. Bendau

BENDAU & BENDAU PLLC

P.O. Box 97066

Phoenix, Arizona 85060

Phone: (480) 382-5176

Fax: (480) 304-3805

Email: cliffordbendau@bendaulaw.com

chris@bendaulaw.com

THE LAW OFFICES OF SIMON & SIMON

By: /s/ James L. Simon

James L. Simon (OH No. 0089483)

THE LAW OFFICES OF SIMON & SIMON

6000 Freedom Square Dr. Independence, OH 44131

Phone: (216) 525-8890 Fax: (216) 642-5814

Email: jameslsimonlaw@yahoo.com

Case: 1:18-cv-02301 $\frac{1}{1000}$ $\frac{1}{1000$

provided by local rules of court purpose of initiating the civil de	c. This form, approved by the ocket sheet. (SEE INSTRUC	he Judicial Conference of the TIONS ON NEXT PAGE OF T	he United States in September 1 HIS FORM.)	9/4, is required for the use of	the Clerk of Court for the			
Giles Debenham IFFS			Digital Forensics 8	Digital Forensics Corp. and Dmitry Belkin				
(b) County of Residence of First Listed Plaintiff Cuyahoga (EXCEPT IN U.S. PLAINTIFF CASES)			County of Residence of First Listed Defendant Cuyahoga (IN U.S. PLAINTIFF CASES ONLY) NOTE: IN LAND CONDEMNATION CASES, USE THE LOCATION OF THE TRACT OF LAND INVOLVED.					
Clifford P. Bendau, II; Ch. P.O. Box 97066, Phoenix James L. Simon; (Please	, AZ 85060; (480) 382	-5176	Attorneys (If Known)					
II. BASIS OF JURISDI	CTION (Place an "X" in O	ne Box Only)	I. CITIZENSHIP OF P	RINCIPAL PARTIES	(Place an "X" in One Box for Plainti			
☐ 1 U.S. Government Plaintiff	3 Federal Question (U.S. Government I	Not a Party)		TF DEF 1				
☐ 2 U.S. Government Defendant	☐ 4 Diversity (Indicate Citizensh.)	ip of Parties in Item III)	Citizen of Another State	2				
			Citizen or Subject of a Foreign Country	3	□ 6 □ 6			
IV. NATURE OF SUIT		nly) ORTS	FORFEITURE/PENALTY	Click here for: Nature of BANKRUPTCY	of Suit Code Descriptions. OTHER STATUTES			
□ 110 Insurance □ 120 Marine □ 130 Miller Act □ 140 Negotiable Instrument □ 150 Recovery of Overpayment & Enforcement of Judgment □ 151 Medicare Act □ 152 Recovery of Defaulted Student Loans (Excludes Veterans) □ 153 Recovery of Overpayment of Veteran's Benefits □ 160 Stockholders' Suits □ 190 Other Contract □ 195 Contract Product Liability □ 196 Franchise REAL PROPERTY □ 210 Land Condemnation □ 220 Foreclosure □ 230 Rent Lease & Ejectment □ 240 Torts to Land □ 245 Tort Product Liability □ 290 All Other Real Property	PERSONAL INJURY 310 Airplane 315 Airplane Product Liability 320 Assault, Libel & Slander 330 Federal Employers' Liability 340 Marine 345 Marine Product Liability 350 Motor Vehicle Product Liability 360 Other Personal Injury 360 Personal Injury - Medical Malpractice CIVIL RIGHTS 440 Other Civil Rights 441 Voting 442 Employment 443 Housing/ Accommodations 445 Amer. w/Disabilities - Employment 446 Amer. w/Disabilities - Other 448 Education	PERSONAL INJURY 365 Personal Injury - Product Liability Product Liability 367 Health Care/ Pharmaceutical Personal Injury Product Liability 368 Asbestos Personal Injury Product Liability PERSONAL PROPERTY 370 Other Fraud 371 Truth in Lending 380 Other Personal Property Damage 385 Property Damage Product Liability PRISONER PETITIONS Habeas Corpus: 463 Alien Detainee 510 Motions to Vacate Sentence 530 General 535 Death Penalty Other: 540 Mandamus & Other 550 Civil Rights 555 Prison Condition 560 Civil Detainee - Conditions of Confinement	☐ 625 Drug Related Seizure of Property 21 USC 881 ☐ 690 Other	□ 422 Appeal 28 USC 158 □ 423 Withdrawal 28 USC 157 PROPERTY RIGHTS □ 820 Copyrights □ 830 Patent □ 835 Patent - Abbreviated New Drug Application □ 840 Trademark SOCIAL SECURITY □ 861 HIA (1395ff) □ 862 Black Lung (923) □ 863 DIWC/DIWW (405(g)) □ 864 SSID Title XVI □ 865 RSI (405(g)) FEDERAL TAX SUITS □ 870 Taxes (U.S. Plaintiff or Defendant) □ 871 IRS—Third Party 26 USC 7609	□ 375 False Claims Act □ 376 Qui Tam (31 USC 3729(a)) □ 400 State Reapportionment □ 410 Antitrust □ 430 Banks and Banking □ 450 Commerce □ 460 Deportation □ 470 Racketeer Influenced and Corrupt Organizations □ 480 Consumer Credit □ 490 Cable/Sat TV □ 850 Securities/Commodities/Exchange □ 890 Other Statutory Actions □ 891 Agricultural Acts □ 893 Environmental Matters □ 895 Freedom of Information Act □ 896 Arbitration □ 899 Administrative Procedure Act/Review or Appeal of Agency Decision □ 950 Constitutionality of State Statutes			
VI. CAUSE OF ACTION VII. REQUESTED IN	Cite the U.S. Civil Star 29 U.S.C. § 201, 6 Brief description of car Action for unpaid	Appellate Court utute under which you are fi et seq. use: overtime under the Fa IS A CLASS ACTION	Reinstated or Reopened 5 Transfe Anothe (specify) illing (Do not cite jurisdictional state air Labor Standards Act DEMAND \$	r District Litigation Transfer tutes unless diversity): CHECK YES only	- Litigation - Direct File			
COMPLAINT: VIII. RELATED CASI		J, F.N.CV.F.		JURY DEMAND:	Yes □No			
IF ANY	(See than actions).	JUDGE		DOCKET NUMBER				
DATE 10-3-18		signature of attor /s/ James L. Simo						
FOR OFFICE USE ONLY RECEIPT # AM	MOUNT	APPLYING IFP	JUDGE	MAG. JUD	OGE			

Print

Save As...

Reset

Case: 1:18-cv-02301 Doc #: 1-1 Filed: 10/03/18 2 of 3. PageID #: 25

UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT NORTHERN DISTRICT OF OHIO

l.	Civil Categories: (Please	e check one category only).			
	2. Adm	eral Civil inistrative Review/So	•		
	3. Hab	eas Corpus Death Po	enalty		
	*If under Title 28, §2255, name th	e SENTENCING JUDGE:			
		CASE NUMBER:			
II.	s filed or removed to this Court o a State court, and e assignment without regardfor ounsel shall be responsible for on the Civil Cover Sheet."				
	This action: is RELATED to a	another PENDING civil case	is a REFILED case	was PREVIOUSLY REMANDED	
lf appli	cable, please indicate on page 1 ir	section VIII, the name of the	Judge and case number		
III.	In accordance with Local Civil Rudivisional offices therein. Actions purpose of determining the prope	s involving counties in the We	stern Division shall be file	ed at the Toledo office. For the	
	ANSWER ONE PARAGRAPH ONI PARAGRAPH APPLIES TO YOUR			ON FINDING WHICH	
	(1) Resident defendant. If the county COUNTY:	ne defendant resides in a coun	ty within this district, plea	ase set forth the name of such	
	<u>Corporation</u> For the purpose of a it has its principal place of busin		ation is deemed to be a re	esident of that county in which	
	(2) Non-Resident defendant. If no defendant is a resident of a county in this district, please set forth the county wherein the cause of action arose or the event complained of occurred. COUNTY:				
	place of business within		action arose or the event	orporation not having a principle complained of occurred outside	
V. The Counties in the Northern District of Ohio are divided into divisions as shown below determined in Section III, please check the appropriate division.				After the county is	
	EASTERN DIVISION				
	AKRON CLEVELAND	(Counties: Carroll, Holmes, (Counties: Ashland, Ashtab Lorain, Medina a	ula, Crawford, Cuyahoga		
	YOUNGSTOWN	(Counties: Columbiana, Mal			
	WESTERN DIVISION				
	TOLEDO	(Counties: Allen, Auglaize, I Huron, Lucas, Marion, Mer VanWert, Williams, Wood a	cer, Ottawa, Paulding, Pu		

INSTRUCTIONS FOR ATTORNEYS COMPLETING CIVIL COVER SHEET FORM JS 44

Authority For Civil Cover Sheet

The JS 44 civil cover sheet and the information contained herein neither replaces nor supplements the filings and service of pleading or other papers as required by law, except as provided by local rules of court. This form, approved by the Judicial Conference of the United States in September 1974, is required for the use of the Clerk of Court for the purpose of initiating the civil docket sheet. Consequently, a civil cover sheet is submitted to the Clerk of Court for each civil complaint filed. The attorney filing a case should complete the form as follows:

- **I.(a) Plaintiffs-Defendants.** Enter names (last, first, middle initial) of plaintiff and defendant. If the plaintiff or defendant is a government agency, use only the full name or standard abbreviations. If the plaintiff or defendant is an official within a government agency, identify first the agency and then the official, giving both name and title.
 - (b) County of Residence. For each civil case filed, except U.S. plaintiff cases, enter the name of the county where the first listed plaintiff resides at the time of filing. In U.S. plaintiff cases, enter the name of the county in which the first listed defendant resides at the time of filing. (NOTE: In land condemnation cases, the county of residence of the "defendant" is the location of the tract of land involved.)
 - (c) Attorneys. Enter the firm name, address, telephone number, and attorney of record. If there are several attorneys, list them on an attachment, noting in this section "(see attachment)".
- **II. Jurisdiction.** The basis of jurisdiction is set forth under Rule 8(a), F.R.Cv.P., which requires that jurisdictions be shown in pleadings. Place an "X" in one of the boxes. If there is more than one basis of jurisdiction, precedence is given in the order shown below.

United States plaintiff. (1) Jurisdiction based on 28 U.S.C. 1345 and 1348. Suits by agencies and officers of the United States are included here. United States defendant. (2) When the plaintiff is suing the United States, its officers or agencies, place an "X" in this box.

Federal question. (3) This refers to suits under 28 U.S.C. 1331, where jurisdiction arises under the Constitution of the United States, an amendment to the Constitution, an act of Congress or a treaty of the United States. In cases where the U.S. is a party, the U.S. plaintiff or defendant code takes precedence, and box 1 or 2 should be marked.

Diversity of citizenship. (4) This refers to suits under 28 U.S.C. 1332, where parties are citizens of different states. When Box 4 is checked, the citizenship of the different parties must be checked. (See Section III below; **NOTE: federal question actions take precedence over diversity cases.**)

- **III. Residence (citizenship) of Principal Parties.** This section of the JS 44 is to be completed if diversity of citizenship was indicated above. Mark this section for each principal party.
- **IV. Nature of Suit.** Place an "X" in the appropriate box. If there are multiple nature of suit codes associated with the case, pick the nature of suit code that is most applicable. Click here for: <u>Nature of Suit Code Descriptions</u>.
- V. Origin. Place an "X" in one of the seven boxes.

Original Proceedings. (1) Cases which originate in the United States district courts.

Removed from State Court. (2) Proceedings initiated in state courts may be removed to the district courts under Title 28 U.S.C., Section 1441. When the petition for removal is granted, check this box.

Remanded from Appellate Court. (3) Check this box for cases remanded to the district court for further action. Use the date of remand as the filing date.

Reinstated or Reopened. (4) Check this box for cases reinstated or reopened in the district court. Use the reopening date as the filing date. Transferred from Another District. (5) For cases transferred under Title 28 U.S.C. Section 1404(a). Do not use this for within district transfers or multidistrict litigation transfers.

Multidistrict Litigation – Transfer. (6) Check this box when a multidistrict case is transferred into the district under authority of Title 28 U.S.C. Section 1407

Multidistrict Litigation – Direct File. (8) Check this box when a multidistrict case is filed in the same district as the Master MDL docket.

PLEASE NOTE THAT THERE IS NOT AN ORIGIN CODE 7. Origin Code 7 was used for historical records and is no longer relevant due to changes in statue.

- VI. Cause of Action. Report the civil statute directly related to the cause of action and give a brief description of the cause. Do not cite jurisdictional statutes unless diversity. Example: U.S. Civil Statute: 47 USC 553 Brief Description: Unauthorized reception of cable service
- **VII.** Requested in Complaint. Class Action. Place an "X" in this box if you are filing a class action under Rule 23, F.R.Cv.P. Demand. In this space enter the actual dollar amount being demanded or indicate other demand, such as a preliminary injunction. Jury Demand. Check the appropriate box to indicate whether or not a jury is being demanded.
- VIII. Related Cases. This section of the JS 44 is used to reference related pending cases, if any. If there are related pending cases, insert the docket numbers and the corresponding judge names for such cases.

Date and Attorney Signature. Date and sign the civil cover sheet.

UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT NORTHERN DISTRICT OF OHIO EASTERN DIVISION

Giles Debenham, individually, and on	No
behalf of all others similarly situated,	
Plaintiffs,	ATTACHMENT
v.	
Digital Forensics Corp. , an Ohio corporation, Dmitry Belkin ,	
Defendants.	

Additional Attorney:

James L. Simon, Attorney The Law Offices of Simon & Simon 6000 Freedom Square Drive, Ste. 165 Independence, OH 44131 Telephone: (216) 525-8890

Consent to be Named Party Plaintiff in FLSA Collective Action

I, Giles Debenham, do hereby consent to be a named party plaintiff in this action. I have read the complaint to be filed in the United States District Court for the Northern District of Ohio, and authorize my attorneys, Bendau & Bendau PLLC, the Law Offices of Simon & Simon, and their associated attorneys (the "Attorneys"), to file the Complaint on my behalf and for other employees similarly situated. I authorize the Attorneys to represent me in the Lawsuit and make decisions on my behalf, including how to conduct the Lawsuit, settlement, and all other matters related to the Lawsuit. I agree to provide the Attorneys thirty-three and one-third percent (33 1/3%) of any recovery they obtain on my behalf in the Lawsuit or the reasonable hourly value of their legal services for time expended in the Lawsuit, as paid by Defendants, whichever is greater. I authorize the Attorneys to deduct from any recovery my pro rata share of any reasonable costs incurred by the Attorneys on my behalf.

	10/2/2018
Giles Debenham	Date

Case: 1:18-cv-02301 Doc #: 1-3 Filed: 10/03/18 2 of 2. PageID #: 29

Signature Certificate



Document Reference: wg5mr3i4w2xLirdr2HJgd2





Giles Debenham

Party ID: 22B4BKJSGKF6GB278IDYSA

IP Address: 151.181.87.130

verified email: debenham20@yahoo.com



Multi-Factor
Digital Fingerprint Checksum

258831e764d70f652bd908049d9ce0940c7852fc



Timestamp	Audit
2018-10-02 08:09:47 -0700	All parties have signed document. Signed copies sent to: Cliff Bendau and
	Giles Debenham.
2018-10-02 08:09:47 -0700	Document signed by Giles Debenham (debenham20@yahoo.com) with drawn
	signature 151.181.87.130
2018-10-02 08:09:46 -0700	Giles Debenham verified email address 'debenham20@yahoo.com'
	151.181.87.130
2018-10-02 08:09:05 -0700	Generated Document from Online Form DEBENHAM CONSENT FORM G. DEBENHAM;
	9-29-18 (DEBENHAM-CONSENT402b22) 151.181.87.130
2018-10-02 08:08:27 -0700	Online Form viewed by Giles Debenham (debenham20@yahoo.com) 151.181.87.130



UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT

for the

Northern District of Ohio				
Giles Deben	ham)			
Plaintiff)			
v.)	Civil Action No.		
Digital Forensics Corp	poration, LLC			
Defendant	,)			
	SUMMONS IN A CI	VIL ACTION		
To: (Defendant's name and address)	DenOne, LLC c/o Erick Martinez (as statutory a 23420 Lorain Road P.O. Box 302 N. Olmsted, Ohio 44070	agent)		
A lawsuit has been filed	d against you.			
Within 21 days after service of this summons on you (not counting the day you received it) — or 60 days if you are the United States or a United States agency, or an officer or employee of the United States described in Fed. R. Civ. P. 12 (a)(2) or (3) — you must serve on the plaintiff an answer to the attached complaint or a motion under Rule 12 of the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure. The answer or motion must be served on the plaintiff or plaintiff's attorney, whose name and address are: James L. Simon Law Offices of Simon & Simon 6000 Freedom Square Drive Freedom Square II - Suite 165 Independence, Ohio 44131				
If you fail to respond, judgment by default will be entered against you for the relief demanded in the complaint. You also must file your answer or motion with the court.				
		SANDY OPACICH, CLERK OF COURT		
Date:				
		Signature of Clerk or Deputy Clerk		

AO 440 (Rev. 12/09) Summons in a Civil Action (Page 2)

Civil Action No.

PROOF OF SERVICE

(This section should not be filed with the court unless required by Fed. R. Civ. P. 4 (l))

	This summons for (name	ne of individual and title, if any	y)				
was re	ceived by me on (date)						
	☐ I personally served	the summons on the indi-	vidual at (place)				
			on (date)	; or			
	☐ I left the summons a	at the individual's resider	nce or usual place of abode with (name)				
	, a person of suitable age and discretion who resides there,						
	on (date), and mailed a copy to the individual's last known address; or						
	☐ I served the summo	ons on (name of individual)		, who	is		
	designated by law to a	accept service of process of	on behalf of (name of organization)				
			on (date)	; or			
	☐ I returned the summ	nons unexecuted because		; 0			
	☐ Other (specify):						
	My fees are \$	for travel and \$	for services, for a total of \$	0.00	•		
	I declare under penalty	of perjury that this infor	rmation is true.				
		1 3 3					
Date:							
2			Server's signature		=		
			Printed name and title		_		
			Server's address		_		

Additional information regarding attempted service, etc:

Print Save As... Reset

UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT

for the

Northern District of Ohio				
Giles Debenham)			
Plaintiff)			
v.)	Civil Action No.		
Digital Forensics Corporation	on, LLC)			
Defendant)			
	SUMMONS IN A CIV	TL ACTION		
3401	al Forensics Corp. Omitry Belkin (as statutory ag Enterprise Parkway, Suite 3 Chwood, Ohio 44122			
A lawsuit has been filed again	nst you.			
are the United States or a United State P. 12 (a)(2) or (3) — you must serve of the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure. whose name and address are: Jame Law 0 6000 Freed	es agency, or an officer or er on the plaintiff an answer to	counting the day you received it) — or 60 days if you imployee of the United States described in Fed. R. Civ. the attached complaint or a motion under Rule 12 of a be served on the plaintiff or plaintiff's attorney,		
If you fail to respond, judgment by default will be entered against you for the relief demanded in the complaint. You also must file your answer or motion with the court.				
		SANDY OPACICH, CLERK OF COURT		
Date:		Signature of Clerk or Deputy Clerk		
		Signature of Clerk of Deputy Clerk		

AO 440 (Rev. 12/09) Summons in a Civil Action (Page 2)

Civil Action No.

PROOF OF SERVICE

(This section should not be filed with the court unless required by Fed. R. Civ. P. 4 (l))

was re	This summons for (nanceived by me on (date)	ne of individual and title, if an	· · ·			
	•	the summons on the ind				
				on (date)	; or	
	☐ I left the summons		-	or usual place of abode with (name)on of suitable age and discretion who resides there,		
	on (date) , and mailed a copy to the individual's last known address; or					
	☐ I served the summons on (name of individual) designated by law to accept service of process on behalf of (name of organization)					, who is
	,			on (date)	; or	
	☐ I returned the sumr	mons unexecuted because	2			; or
	☐ Other (specify):					
	My fees are \$	for travel and \$	i	for services, for a total of \$		0.00 .
	I declare under penalty of perjury that this information is true.					
Date:				Server's signature		
				Server's signature		
				Printed name and title		
				Server's address		

Additional information regarding attempted service, etc:

Print Save As... Reset

ClassAction.org

This complaint is part of ClassAction.org's searchable class action lawsuit database and can be found in this post: <u>Digital Forensics Corporation Facing Worker Misclassification</u>, <u>Unpaid OT Lawsuit</u>